)47 DA.1-4-93

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLER, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

WILLIAM THOMAS CONLEY,

Petitioner,

Respondent.

v.

CASE NO. 79,278

STATE OF FLORIDA,

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

GLEM P. GIFFORD
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR #0664261
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
FOURTH FLOOR, NORTH
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This case is before the Court on conflict jurisdiction, pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

Mr. Conley, the petitioner, was the defendant in the trial court and the appellant in the district court. Herein, he will be identified as petitioner. Respondent will be identified as the state. The victim will be identified in this brief, as she was in the district court opinion, as M.M. In this brief, references to pleadings, orders, etc., appear as (R[page number]), while citations to trial and hearing transcripts appear as (T[page number]).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The state charged petitioner, WILLIAM THOMAS CONLEY, with armed burglary, armed robbery and three counts of armed sexual battery. (R28) Petitioner was served notice of the state's intent to seek sentencing as a habitual offender and habitual violent offender. (R6, 8) Trial commenced before Judge Michael R. Weatherby. (R1)

Defense counsel objected during the testimony of Isaac Brown, a police officer, to the contents of a dispatch which led to his involvement in this case. (T93-94) The objection was overruled. (T94) The defense objected again to testimony by Brown in which he relayed hearsay statements of the alleged victim, M.M., made shortly after the alleged crimes and then later after petitioner's apprehension. (T94) Following a proffer and argument from both sides, the court ruled the statements admissible under a "fresh complaint" hearsay exception and overruled the objection. (T95-107) A motion for mistrial was denied. (T107)

The state proffered testimony by police officer W.R. Baer that petitioner gave a false name during an interrogation after his arrest, then admitted the fabrication and gave his real name. (T160-164) Defense counsel sought to exclude this testimony, asserting it was irrelevant to the charges and unfairly prejudicial. (T165) The court overruled the objection. (T170-172) During the testimony of Dr. Darryl Turner, defense counsel objected to hearsay statements made by the alleged victim to the

physician as part of a rape exam. (T205) The objection was overruled. (T206)

The prosecutor attempted to cross-examine Russell Riggs, a defense witness, about a purported confrontation between Riggs and the alleged victim outside the courtroom, during which (according to the prosecutor) Riggs insulted and threatened

M: . (T246) A defense objection was overruled, and Riggs denied making a threat. (T246-248) During cross-examination of petitioner, the prosecutor asked whether defense witnesses were presented to show the alleged victim was a "slut." (T269) The court sustained a defense objection to the remark. (T269) During the prosecutor's closing arguments, defense counsel objected to remarks which mischaracterized evidence, attacked defense counsel, and conveyed the prosecutor's personal opinion of petitioner. (T309, 326, 331) The court gave curative instructions in response to several of the objections and overruled another. (T309, 327, 331)

The jury found petitioner guilty of all offenses as charged. (T374, R31-35) Petitioner was adjudicated guilty of the offenses. (T377, R46-47) After a state witness matched petitioner's fingerprints with those on a 1985 judgment for robbery, the trial court found petitioner to be a habitual violent felony offender. (T383-390) The court referred at the hearing to a written sentencing order already prepared. (T390) Petitioner was sentenced to life imprisonment with 15-year mandatory minimum terms on all counts. (T392, R48-53) Counts I

and V were consecutive to Counts II, III and IV, which were concurrent to one another.

On direct appeal, the First District Court of Appeal vacated the sentences on Counts II-IV, pursuant to <u>Burdick v. State</u>, 584 So.2d 1035 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), <u>approved in part</u>, 594 So.2d 267 (Fla. 1992). The district court rejected the remainder of petitioner's arguments asserting errors in trial and imposition of sentence. Conley v. State, 592 So.2d 723 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

M.M. testified that she was introduced to petitioner in July or August of 1989 by a female friend who invited M.M. to accompany her, another man and petitioner on a trip from Jacksonville to Daytona Beach. (T55) M.M. said that during the trip, petitioner kissed her several times but that they went no further sexually. (T55) After a night at a hotel, the group returned to Jacksonville the next day. (T55) M.M. testified that she saw petitioner several times in passing after that, but spent no time with him. (T56)

On November 13, 1989, M.M. was at 8224 Eaton in Jacksonville, taking care of "Grumpy," the elderly mother of a neighbor, Al Douglas. (T53) M.M.'s two-year-old son, Zachery, was with her. (T51) She said that at 2:00 p.m. that day, a man she identified as petitioner knocked the door down and entered the house carrying a rifle. (T56) He pointed the gun at M.M. and asked if anyone else was in the house. (T57) At his direction, M.M. got Grumpy out of bed and put her in a wheelchair in the living room. (T58) He then made M.M. go into the bedroom and take her clothes off. (T58) She testified that he forced her to have anal, vaginal and oral sex with him while he kept the gun nearby. (T59-60) Anal sex lasted for 15 to 20 minutes before the man had M.M. place a lubricant on his penis, then resumed. (T60-61) M.M. stated that after anal and vaginal sex, she noticed blood on the man's penis. (T86) At one point, M.M.'s son cried from the living room, and the man allowed her to give him a bottle. (T63-63) While M.M. got a piece of ice at the man's

direction, he hit Zachery because the child began to cry again. (T63) More sex in the bedroom ensued. (T65-66) The man fired the gun into the ceiling "to show me he meant business," M.M. said. (T64)

Eventually, the man had M.M. put her clothes back on, and took three rings from her fingers and the checkbook from her purse. (T70) He had her accompany him to a nearby trailer, where she was directed to knock on the door and ask for Steve. (T71) M.M. was allowed to bring Zachery with her. (T71) A child answered the door and ran outside. (T72) The man ordered M.M. into the trailer, then started looking through drawers. (T72) He told M.M. to leave, but as she went out the door asked her what she was doing. (T72) She ran down the street, pursued by the man until she turned into a yard with people in it. (T73)

Police arrived in response to a call of an armed man pursuing a woman down the street, and heard M.M.'s version of events. (T73, 108) Officers apprehended petitioner under a bed in a house nearby with a gun at his side. (T111) The owner of the house, where petitioner had been staying, testified that he ran inside just before police arrived and said he was in trouble. (T153) An evidence technician took a checkbook from the bedroom where he was found. (T137) M.M. identified the gun as the one she said petitioner had that day, and the checkbook as hers. (T57, 70) She also identified petitioner, sitting alone in the back of a police car, as her assailant. (T76, 116-117) After his arrest, police found money and three rings in petitioner's possession. (T117) During the trial, M.M. identified the rings

as hers. (T70-71, 117-118) Petitioner gave police a false name, then stated his correct name. (T175-177) He denied committing any of the crimes against M.M., and asserted that he was hunting with a friend until 6:00 p.m. that day. (T178)

A physician examined M.M. within hours of the alleged rape. (T199) He found a bruise on her neck but no evidence of trauma to the rectum or vagina. (T209-211) The exam revealed a small amount of yellowish fluid in the anus, but there was no evidence of sperm in either orifice. (T209) Police failed to find evidence of a bullet having been fired at the ceiling in the room where she said the rapes occurred. (R128)

Several defense witnesses testified that they had seen petitioner and M.M. together as a couple as recently as two weeks before the alleged crimes. (T240-241, 244-245, 250) Manson McClain testified that on November 13, he saw petitioner without a gun around noon. (T250) Petitioner testified at trial that he and M.M. had a relationship which included sexual intercourse, ending in late September. (T256, 266) He stated that on November 13, he returned from hunting with friend Wayne Westberry around 2:00 p.m. (T257) He then went to Al Douglas' house, where he once lived, to visit Al and check on his mother. (T258) M.M. was there. (T259) She invited petitioner in, but became angry when he started kidding her about seeing two black men (the substance of their conversation was held inadmissible and stricken). (T259) M.M. cursed petitioner, who slapped her face and left. (T264-265) He denied raping her. (T265) Petitioner testified that he hid from the police because he was wanted on violation of probation.

(T265) He said the gun was already under the bed when he went to hide there. (T273)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- I. The trial court admitted testimony from a police officer in which he said he answered a dispatch about a man with a gun chasing a woman down the street. The ruling was in error. The district court held that the officer's statement was relevant to establish why he went to investigate. In light of more recent case law from this Court and others, the district court's reliance on a 1984 district court decision for this proposition was misplaced. The dispatch contained inessential, prejudicial information which the jury should not have heard.
- Victim to a physician detailing her claim of sexual battery. A defense objection to the testimony was overruled after the state argued it was admissible under section 90.803(4). The ruling was in error, as was its approval by the district court. First, the examination was conducted solely for law enforcement purposes, not for purposes of diagnosis or treatment. Second, as noted in the dissenting opinion by Judge Ervin below, M.M.'s statement to the physician included damaging detail wholly irrelevant to diagnosing or treating her condition.
- III. The trial court erred in admitting testimony that petitioner used a false name after his arrest. The false name carried no relevance to the crime charged. Petitioner had already been informed he was identified by sight as the perpetrator, so this was no attempt to avoid arrest or prosecution by asserting a false identity. The potential

prejudice to jury impartiality from irrelevant testimony suggesting only that petitioner was a man with something to conceal was great. Reversible error resulted which deprived petitioner his right to trial by an impartial jury.

- IV. The prosecutor made several clearly improper remarks in closing argument. The first group of statements conveyed hostility toward petitioner for exercising his right to a trial and extending the victim's ordeal, a swipe at defense counsel or petitioner for impeaching the victim's credibility and a blatant appeal to instincts of sympathy. The court compounded the prejudice in overruling an objection to these comments. The second improper statement conveyed the prosecutor's personal beliefs as well as his distaste for petitioner. Both sets of comments went far astray of fair comment, and together they sabotaged jury impartiality.
- V. Cumulative trial errors denied petitioner his constitutional rights to due process of law and trial by an impartial jury.
- VI. Petitioner's sentences as a habitual violent offender facially violate constitutional Double Jeopardy clauses. In every case in which it is used, application of section 775.084(1)(b), Florida Statutes, focuses on the nature of a prior felony, to the exclusion of any criteria for the offense leading to its use, so as to constitute a second punishment for the prior felony. Thus, on its face, the provision places offenders twice in jeopardy for the same crime(s), violating the state and federal constitutions. Where, as here, the prior offenses on

which the sentences depend occurred prior to the amendment creating the enhancement, the statute also violates constitutional Ex Post Facto clauses.

VII. The court erred in preparing the order declaring petitioner a habitual violent felony offender in advance of the sentencing hearing. As in the case of guideline departure orders not contemporaneous with imposition of sentence, the nature of the error requires that petitioner be resentenced without resort to the habitual offender statute.

VIII. The trial court erred in imposing consecutive overall and mandatory minimum sentences on petitioner as a habitual offender for crimes committed in a single episode, consecutive to one another. In a recent decision, this Court held that consecutive mandatory minimum terms may not be imposed under section 775.084(4)(b), Florida Statutes, for offenses committed in a single criminal episode. The Court left unanswered the question whether overall habitual violent felony offender sentences may be imposed consecutively. There is no reason to reach a different conclusion as to the overall habitual offender sanction. A mandatory minimum term is no less a sentence than an overall term of years. Either the statute authorizes both consecutive mandatory minimum and overall habitual offender sentences for offenses committed in the same criminal episode, or it authorizes neither.

The district court erred in concluding that because the burglary and robbery were separate acts hours apart, consecutive

sentences were authorized. The crimes clearly were part of the same criminal episode.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING, OVER OBJECTIONS, HEARSAY TESTIMONY OF A POLICE DISPATCH.

Police officer Isaac Brown testified to a dispatch he received before he met the alleged victim, M.M. (T94) Brown said he "received a call in reference to a man chasing a female down the street. The man supposedly had some type of gun or rifle." (T94) The trial court overruled a hearsay objection by defense counsel to the testimony. (T94) The district court of appeal approved the trial judge's ruling. 592 So.2d at 727.

Both the circuit and district courts are in error. First, the dispatch was base hearsay, inadmissible under any recognized exception. Section 90.801(1)(c), Florida Statutes, defines hearsay as a "statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." Under section 90.802, hearsay evidence is inadmissible. Here, there was no testimony of the source of the information relayed via the dispatch. Brown's recounting of this dispatch is inadmissible double hearsay. It does not fall under the exception, 90.803(3), for then existing mental, emotional, or physical condition because the statement was not offered to prove the declarant's (caller's) state of mind or "prove or explain acts of subsequent conduct of the declarant." See s.90.803(3)(a)(1),(2), Fla. Stat.

The district court held that the officer's statement was relevant to establish why he went to investigate, citing <u>Johnson</u> v. State, 456 So.2d 529, 530 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984). In recent

years, the Fourth District Court of Appeal has backed away from its holding in <u>Johnson</u>. In <u>Harris v. State</u>, 544 So.2d 322 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), the court reviewed <u>Johnson</u> and another opinion that followed it, and stated:

[W]e emphasize that it is not a sufficient justification for the introduction of incriminating hearsay that the statement explains or justifies an officer's presence at a particular location or some action taken as a result of the hearsay statement. There is a fine line that must be drawn between a statement merely justifying or explaining such presence or activity and one that includes incriminating (and usually unnecessary) details.

Id. at 324. Accord, Cooper v. State, 573 So.2d 74 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990); Calloway v. State, 588 So.2d 652 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991). State v. Baird, 572 So.2d 904 (Fla. 1991), this Court expressly agreed with Harris that when the sole purpose for admitting hearsay information received from an informant is to show a logical sequence of events ending in arrest, the need for the evidence is slight and the likelihood of misuse great. Citing Baird, the Third DCA has held that a police officer may testify to what he or she did pursuant to information received from others, but may not relay the hearsay information itself. Mense v. State, 570 So.2d 1390 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990). The same court has held that there is no "BOLO exception" to the hearsay rule. Lane v. State, 430 So.2d 989, 990 n.l. (Fla. 3d DCA 1983). Even the First DCA, its decision in this case notwithstanding, has cited Harris with approval in holding a declarant's out-of-court incriminating statement inessential to establish a logical sequence of events. Asberry v. State, 568 So.2d 86 (Fla. 1st DCA

1990). In light of these holdings, the district court's reliance on <u>Johnson</u> is misplaced.

Here, the hearsay contained in the dispatch, from a source unknown, included the incriminating detail that the man running down the street was carrying a gun. The question whether a gun was used during these offenses was a disputed issue at trial. The dispatch thus included incriminating detail unnecessary to show why the officer went to the area. As noted in Harris and Baird, the better practice is to allow the officer to state that he acted on a tip or information received, without relaying the details of the accusatory information.

Misuse of the information, which the <u>Harris</u> and <u>Baird</u> courts considered likely, actually occurred here. As observed in the district court opinion, the prosecutor referred to the officer's testimony to corroborate M.M.'s testimony in closing argument. (T306) In this context, the court noted, the evidence was inadmissible hearsay. 592 So.2d at 727. This improper use of the testimony magnified the harm in its admission, raising the error to reversible proportions.

II. HEARSAY STATEMENTS BY THE ALLEGED VICTIM TO A DOCTOR WHO EXAMINED HER AS PART OF THE SEXUAL ASSAULT INVESTIGATION WERE INADMISSIBLE.

Section 90.803(4), Florida Statutes (1989), permits:

Statements made for purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment by a person seeking the diagnosis or treatment, . . . which statements describe medical history, past or present symptoms, pain, or sensations, or the inceptions or general character of the cause or external source thereof, insofar as reasonably pertinent to diagnosis or treatment.

The trial court admitted hearsay statements by the victim to a physician detailing her claim of sexual battery. (T206) A defense objection was overruled after the state argued the testimony was admissible under section 90.803(4).

For reasons explained below, this ruling was in error, as was its approval by the district court. First, the statements were made during an examination conducted solely for law enforcement purposes, not for purposes of diagnosis or treatment. Second, as noted in the dissenting opinion by Judge Ervin below, M.M.'s statement to the physician included damaging detail wholly irrelevant to diagnosing or treating her condition.

A hearsay statement is admissible under the medical treatment or diagnosis exception only after a showing that (a) it was made for the purpose of diagnosis or treatment; and (b) that the declarant knew the statement was made for this purpose. Begley v. State, 483 So.2d 70 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989). Here, the state made no showing that the doctor's examination was made for the purpose of diagnosis or treatment. The witness testified from a form he had filled out while conducting the exam. He testified that he

routinely uses the form when performing an exam based on an allegation of sexual assault. (T214) The doctor offered neither testimony of a medical diagnosis or treatment, nor findings consistent with either a legal conclusion of sexual battery or a medical conclusion of vaginal or anal trauma. Evidently, he functioned solely as an investigator, much like an evidence technician who gathers information for later use by law enforcement officers and lawyers.

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