D.A.1-4-93

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM THOMAS CONLEY,

Petitioner

v.

CASE NO.: 79,278

28

CLERK, SURREME COURT

ief Deputy Clerk

B

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

EDWARD C. HILL, JR. ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 238041

> DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

Issue II

The doctor testified that the history statement he took from the victim was necessary to enable him to perform his examination. (T 205) Although counsel objected to this testimony, he only objected on the ground that it was hearsay. (T 205-206)

Issue IV

Petitioner objected to the prosecutor's comment regarding "liking the defendant" but did not ask for a curative instruction or a mistrial. (T 331)

Issue VII

The trial judge did not prepare his order until all sides had the opportunity to present evidence relating to sentence. (T 386-389)

- 2 -

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ISSUE I:

The lower tribunal did not err when it affirmed the admission of the police officer's testimony. The officer's initial statement of how he came into contact with the victim was not hearsay, as, it was not introduced to prove the truth of the matter asserted.

ISSUE II:

The lower tribunal did not err when it affirmed the admission of the medical doctor's testimony. The objection to the doctor's testimony was that it was hearsay. Appellee acknowledges that it was hearsay, however, it is admissible hearsay pursuant to the evidence code. Counsel below did not preserve the issue of whether the medical diagnosis exception fit these facts. Therefore, this court should affirm. In the event the court reaches the merits of the issue, the statement fit within the exception and was properly admitted.

ISSUE III:

The general rule is that use of a false name is admissible in a criminal trial unless it is unduly prejudicial. Petitioner who actually used the name, and a much worse name (mad dog) cannot establish that the lower tribunal erred in affirming the admission of this testimony. Alternate names were used repeatedly by the petitioner during trial and in the course of making admissions to the officer. The petitioner's statements

- 3 -

were relevant to the issues at trial. The statement was properly admitted and this court should affirm the ruling of the lower tribunal.

ISSUE IV

In this issue, petitioner alleges that the prosecutor's closing argument was improper. Respondent asserts that the argument properly referred to evidence introduced by petitioner that was not relevant. If the comment was error, it was invited or was harmless.

Petitioner's second allegation of error was not preserved by objection, thus, it was waived. Therefore, this court should deny relief.

ISSUE V

Petitioner's previous arguments have not established that error occurred, and, lumping them together does not raise any error he might have established to the level of a denial of due process, therefore, this court should reject petitioner's argument and affirm his conviction.

ISSUE VI

Florida's habitual offender statute, which has been repeatedly found to be valid; does not violate due process, equal protection, or double jeopardy. Also, it is not vague and is not an ex post facto law. Therefore, petitioner's arguments, which have been rejected by every Court in this state, do not establish a basis for reversal.

- 4 -

ISSUE VII

First of all, written orders do not have to be prepared in habitual offender cases. Therefore, if there is a problem with the order no reversible error exists. Further, there is no evidence that the lower court prepared its order prior to taking testimony at the sentencing hearing. Moreover, the cases and rules petitioner suggests should apply to habitual offender sentencings, do not apply. Therefore, petitioner has not identified any reversible error.

ISSUE VIII

The trial court did not err in imposing consecutive sentences on the petitioner. Section 775.021(4) as interpreted by the Florida Supreme Court is a strong statement rejecting the one act, one episode theories of double jeopardy. The statute specifically authorizes separate and consecutive sentences for all separate offenses. Since, petitioner was convicted of separate offenses, consecutive sentences are proper.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING, OVER OBJECTIONS, TESTIMONY OF A POLICE DISPATCH.

The first witness called by the state was the victim. She testified that petitioner sexually assaulted her, robbed her, and confined her against her will. (T 51-73). She also testified that at one point in the ordeal she broke away and ran. She stated that during the time that petitioner chased her down the street with his rifle she was shouting call the police. (T 73).

Officer Brown was the state's second witness. He testified he received a report that someone was being chased down a street by a person with a gun and so he went to investigate. (T 94). Petitioner's assertions that this was hearsay is erroneous. Hearsay is an out of court statement offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted. The officer's statement was not offered to prove the truth of anything. It was offered to establish why it was that the officer went to the scene to investigate. <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 456 So.2d 529 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984). In any event, it was merely cumulative and not reversible error.

Petitioner tries to bring this statement within the rule of <u>State v. Baird</u>, 572 So.2d 904 (Fla. 1991) and <u>Harris v. State</u>, 544 So.2d 322 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989). The facts of this case are

- 6 -

distinguishable, thus, the holdings of those cases do not control. In <u>Baird</u>, the statement of the officer was that Baird's activities were investigated because the officer had been told about Baird's gambling. This was an out of court statement which directly implicated the defendant. In the instant case, the information was generic. It did not implicate anyone. Therefore, the <u>Harris/Baird</u> rule applied by the district court in the cases cited by petitioner is inapplicable.

In any event, the statement was harmless. The victim had already testified in great detail regarding the torture she had endured. Further, petitioner was found under a bed in possession of a firearm. He acknowledge going hunting earlier and even one of his own witness said he had a firearm that day. If error occurred it was harmless. Petitioner has failed to identify any error made by the lower tribunal, thus, this court should affirm.

Petitioner now asserts this information was improperly argued to the jury. He fails to note that no objection was entered by counsel to this argument. Therefore, the effect of the evidence in closing argument is not preserved for review. Jones v. State, 473 So.2d 1244 (Fla. 1985), State v. Cumbie, 380 So.2d 1031 (Fla. 1980). Finally, this issue was not identified and argued to the lower tribunal as reversible error. Since it was not argued in the lower tribunal, it is waived. State v. Wells, 539 So.2d 464 (Fla. 1989). Therefore, this court should not address it.

- 7 -

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING HEARSAY STATEMENTS MADE BY THE VICTIM TO A DOCTOR WHO EXAMINED HER.

Standard of Review

There are several provisions of law relevant to the determination of this issue. First of all, trial court rulings come to the appellate court cloaked with a presumption of correctness. <u>McNamara v. State</u>, 357 So.2d 410 (Fla. 1978). Moreover, in ruling on the admission or exclusion of evidence a trial court has a great deal of discretion, and, absent abuse, the ruling will not be reversed on appeal. <u>Jent v. State</u>, 408 So.2d 1024 (Fla. 1982). Petitioner arguments do not establish that the lower tribunal erred when it found no abuse of discretion by the trial court.

In this case, Dr. Johnson testified that he took a preliminary history of the event from the victim. In this preliminary statement, she described the nature of the sexual assault. He testified that the victim's statement was necessary to perform his medical examination. (T. 205). At this point defense counsel objected that it was hearsay and that he did not know how the state was going to use it. The state responded that pursuant to section 90.803(4) it was admissible. The court overruled the objection and counsel made no further objection.

- 8 -

Preservation

A Petitioner who brings an issue to an appellate court is asserting trial court error. If, he doesn't provide the trial court with the opportunity to rule on the issue, he cannot identify trial court error. <u>State v. Barber</u>, 301 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1974). Since, his burden when presenting evidentiary issues is to show abuse of discretion, <u>Jent v. State</u>, 408 So.2d 1024 (Fla. 1982), he has to make a specific objection in order to give the court the opportunity to exercise its discretion. <u>Tillman v.</u> <u>State</u>, 471 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1985), <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1986).

Petitioner objected on the ground that the testimony was hearsay. He was correct. The state responded that statements to physicians are within the medical exception to the hearsay rule. The state too was correct. Petitioner said nothing further. Therefore, petitioner never alerted the trial judge to his appellate contention that the testimony was not within the scope of the exception. Therefore, this issue is not preserved and this court should reject petitioner's claim.

In <u>Bowden v. State</u>, 588 So.2d 225 (Fla. 1991), a similar situation arose. The defense objected to the state's use of peremptory challenges. The trial court made the state respond and the state gave its reasons for the challenges. The defense did not challenge the asserted reasons and this Court held that

- 9 -

the failure to object resulted in a waiver of the objection. The rational of <u>Bowden</u> should be applied in this case. Petitioner never objected on the ground that this situation did not fit within the medical exception to the hearsay rule. Therefore, this issue is not properly preserved for appeal and this court should affirm the ruling of the lower tribunal.

Alternatively, the doctor testified that he asked the questions because he needed to know what happened in order to determine how to diagnose and treat the victim. He based his decisions relating to the examination and treatment of this patient on the statements he obtained. Because the description included an allegation of anal sex, the doctor performed an aquatic test. He did this to determine if the victim had suffered any injury to the anal cavity. Based on her statement of vaginal rape, he conducted an examination of her vagina using a speculum.

In this case, the doctor examined and treated the patient for her injuries caused by petitioner's sexual assault. The statements were statements obtained by the doctor during his examination, diagnosis and treatment. They were used by the doctor in the course of providing medical care for the injuries described in her statement. Under this Court's holding in <u>Torres-Arboledo v. State</u>, 524 So.2d 403 (Fla. 1988), the testimony was admissable. Petitioner did not object to there admission under the medical exception, nor, did he assert that the admission was barred by other provisions of the evidence code. Therefore, he cannot be heard on this issue now. Finally, introduction of the general description was neither an abuse of discretion nor harmful error as a far more detailed statement of the acts had already been introduced.

ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN PERMITTING TESTIMONY THAT PETITIONER GAVE POLICE FALSE NAME AFTER HIS ARREST.

Petitioner is wrong when he asserts that his out of court statements in which he used an alternate name were improperly admitted. These statements to the police detective were found to be voluntary and were properly admitted.

As an initial matter, introduction of a defendant's alias is not error. <u>Lamb v. State</u>, 354 So.2d 124 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1978) Moreover, even if it is error it is not reversible error unless the defendant can establish prejudice. <u>Rodriguez v. State</u>, 413 So.2d 1303 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982).

Petitioner could never establish prejudice stemming from this initial giving of a wrong name, for petitioner repeatedly used alternate names for himself. During the course of the detective's interview petitioner used this alternate name, and, used a far more prejudicial name (mad dog). Petitioner who used the name mad dog during the trial cannot establish prejudice emanating from the use of the name Ronald Jones.

More importantly the use of the name, Ronald Jones, was admissible because it was part and parcel of the defendant's statement which contained admissions relevant to the issues being tried. Thus, it was properly admitted. <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 530 So.2d 269 (Fla. 1988), <u>Swafford v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 270 (Fla. 1988).

- 12 -

Petitioner failed to establish that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting the testimony, therefore, this court should affirm the lower tribunal's denial of relief.

ISSUE IV

ACTIONS OF THE PROSECUTOR DID NOT DEPRIVE PETITIONER OF A FAIR TRIAL. (RESTATED).

In the defense case, friends of the defendant employed a scheme, which is statutorily prohibited. Without following the rules relating to introduction of character evidence, they portrayed the victim as a person of low moral character. They testified regarding specific acts of the victim. They testified that even though she was married, they had seen her naked with the petitioner. (T.241) They also claimed that she had exposed herself in public. (T 244,245). They even announced outside the courtroom that "the bitch wasn't worth screwing" and that "she The petitioner testified and accused would pay". (T 245-248) her of sleeping with two black men. (T 259). Some of this This evidence some of evidence was improper propensity evidence. which was admitted over objection (T 238) was allowed to be introduced because the defense stated that they would present a defense of consent.

However, the defense did not establish the affirmative defense of consent for the petitioner did not acknowledge he had sex with the victim. (T 261-264, 268) Because consent was not established, this testimony was improper and statutorily prohibited. §794.022(2), Fla. Stat.

The found lower tribunal that the testimony was admissable as impeachment. Certainly testimony relating to the number of times the victim had been seen in petitioner's company was admissible as impeachment, however, the details of sexual encounters were not admissable absent a legitimate consent defense. In light of the improper character assassination tactics directed toward the victim which were not relevant to any issue in the case, the prosecutor had every right to comment upon the evidence petitioner introduced. This was a comment on the defense or absence of a defense. It was a comment on what was being done to obscure the issues in the case. Therefore, it was permissible.

In any event, petitioner has identified no reversible error. For if any error occurred it was invited by the defendant and as found by the district court harmless. The prosecutor is allowed to comment on the evidence introduced. Petitioner chose to call witnesses and elicit this testimony although he could not tie it to a legitimate defense. He cannot be heard to complain when the prosecutor identifies it and then points out that after parading these consent witness the defendant denies having sex with the victim. (T 328) Petitioner created the situation, he chose the strategy, he invited the comment. <u>White v. State</u>, 446 So.2d 1031 (Fla. 1984), <u>Clark</u>, <u>McCrae v. State</u>, 395 So.2d 1145 (Fla. 1980). Finally, petitioner now objects to the prosecutor during rebuttal stating that he did not like him. It was petitioner who raised the issue of the jury liking the defendant and the victim. (T 318, 324) Thus, if any error occurred it was invited. <u>Darden</u> <u>v. State</u>, 329 So.2d 287 (Fla. 1976), <u>Clark</u>.

After the trial court admonished the prosecutor, petitioner did not request a curative instruction or request a mistrial. (T 331) It is an established principle of law that when a court sustains an objection and counsel desires to preserve error he must request the court to take some action. <u>Clark v. State</u>, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978), <u>Simpson v. State</u>, 418 So.2d 984 (Fla. 1982). Petitioner asked for no relief. Therefore, he has waived review of this issue.

Petitioner has identified no preserved error which was not invited by defense tactics. Therefore, he has not established a basis for reversal of his conviction and this court should affirm.

ISSUE V

PETITIONER WAS NOT DENIED DUE PROCESS.

Petitioner argues that the cumulative effect of his alleged errors resulted in the denial of a fair trial. He is wrong. The matters that he asserts as error in issues one through four are not error, were not preserved, or are harmless.. He has not established he was denied a fair trial. Therefore, this court should deny relief. <u>Clark</u>.

ISSUE VI

THE HABITUAL OFFENDER STATUTE IS CONSTITUTIONAL.

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